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Located on the easternmost point of Dauphine Island, a narrow strip of sand which 
flanks the western entrance to Mobile Bay, Fort Gaines is a fine example of a mid- 19th 
Century, French influenced, masonry fort which exhibits outstanding brickwork, particularly 
in the complex vaulting systems of the bastions.

As originally conceived in 1818, the fort was laid out as a regular pentagonal 
bastioned work of brick and earth, much like its companion, Fort Morgan, which guards the 
eastern entrance of the bay. After two years of work and the expenditure of $219,743.91, 
the fort was only 4/3 completed when construction was halted for 43 years.

During the ensuing period new concepts of fortification were developed and in 1854 
when construction was resumed, new plans prepared by U.S. Chief Engineer J.G. Totten 
supplanted the earlier design and a five-side fort, comprising 2/3 of a hexagon with the 
opening at the discontinuous part of the polygon closed by a straight line, was projected. 
The center point of the polygon was directed toward the channel in the mouth of the bay, 
while the entrance consisted of a single gate on the gorge front secured with a heavy 
wooden drawbridge.

Following the advanced theories the scarp, which was 22.5 feet high and tapered 
from 5 feet at the base to 4% feet at the top, was separated from the base of the exterior 
slope of the rampart creating a three foot chemin- des -roundes . The earthen rampart tapered 
upward from the chemin- des - roundes to a height of 24 feet at the parapet wall.

The fort measures 400 feet along the gorge (west) wall, 223 feet along the north 
and south flanks, and 209 feet each on the left and right face (east). From the extreme 
points of the bastions, the dimensions are increased by 100 feet on the gorge wall, 94 
feet on the north and south flanks and 81 feet on the face. Closely spaced along the 
five foot thick walls are numerous rifle ports spanned by segmental archs.

Communication, water, and ventilating systems are carefully integrated in each 
bastion. Access from the prade was afforded by and long vaulted tunner under the 
ramparts , while access from the chemins - des - roundes was through an arched opening to 
the tunnel. Water collected by catch-basins on the roof of each bastion, was conducted 
to cisterns below the floors, and ventilation was provided by six flues penetrating 
the roof of each bastion.

The buildings contained within the enceinte of the fort consist of two guard houses 
flanking the vaulted tunnel from the gate, a store house directly across from the tunnel, 
officers quarters on the south side of the parade and soldiers barracks on the north. 
With the exception of the soldiers barracks, which are roofless and vacant, the buildings 
remain in good condition.

In 1901 two concrete batteries which extend into the parade to a small degree were 
constructed along with a magazine. At this time the chemin- des - roundes on the right and 
left face curtains were filled and a small concrete blockhouse was constructed atop the 
southwest bastion.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Fort Gaines, along with its companion Fort Morgan (NHL), was initially conceived by 
French engineer, Baron Simon Bernard, to command the entrance to Mobile Bay, and the 
two forts were among the first undertaken by the U.S. in the elaborate chain of works 
conceived but the lesser of the two forts and its completion was delayed until the mid- 
19th Century. When completed, under new plans supplied by Chief Engineer J.G. Totten, 
Fort Gaines was a sophisticated work of earth and masonry which utilized the most 
advanced theories of fortification design and employed skillfully integrated communication, 
ventilation and water systems in the bastions. Structural work was particularly fine 
with interior spaces spanned by a complex series of vaults of various configurations.

The strategic importance of the eastern point of Dauphine Island was recognized as 
early as 1713 when the French Governor LaMothe-Cadillac recommended the construction 
of a fort at that location. It was not, however, until after the United States gained 
control of the area in 1814 that the first plans for the construction of a fort were 
formulated. In 1816, the French fortification expert, Bernard, accompanied by his 
draftsman G.T. Poussin surveyed Mobile Bay. At the time of Bernards' survey, Mobile 
Bay was approximately 3% miles wide and had two channels of entry separated by a wide 
bay. On the east the channel by Mobile Point was nearly 1 mile wide and a minimum depth 
of 17 to 18 feet. On the west, the channel was 1200 yards from the tip of Dauphine 
Island, but was only about 300 yards wide and 10 feet deep. To defend these channels, 
Bernard designed two identical forts, each to be a regular pentagonal bastioned work.

Construction of the fort on Mobile Point was contracted in May of 1818 and the 
following month work was contracted for the Dauphine Island fort. In 1821, after-two 
years, the work on Dauphine Island was halted when Congress refused to appropriate 
funds. The argument against continuing the fort was that the channel was not as deep 
as reported and the surrounding waters were not sufficiently deep for naval support.

In 1840 the fort was again listed among the works projected due to the fact that 
steamboats of shallow draft could pass in the channel off the island, but it was not 
until 1845 that Congress appropriated $20,000 to commence work on the fort. Ownership 
legalities further delayed construction activity until 1853 when the State of Alabama 
granted clear title to the land. At that time the fort was named in honor of Edmund 
Pendleton Gaines.

The following year new excavations began, but the Bernard plans were abandoned for 
more modern and advanced designs supplied by Chief Engineer J.G. Totten, which consisted 
of the latest developments in the years since the last work was done on the fort. These 
new plans traced a five-sided fort comprising two-thirds of a hexagon which allowed a 
combined uniform defense of a 240 degree arc in the direction of the channel. Work
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continued on the fort until January 5, 1861, when State Militia troops siezed the fort 
under orders issued by Governor A. B. Moore. The fort was largely completed during 
the Civil War by the Confederacy.

On August 3, 1864, 1500 Union soldiers under General Gordon Granger invested 
Fort Gaines on the land side 1200 yards to the west, and the following day opened 
fire. Union Rear Admiral David G. Farragut breeched the mouth of Mobile Bay and 
passed under the guns of Fort Morgan on Mobile Point and the Battle of Mobile Bay 
ensued. On August 5, Union vessels turned their guns on Fort Gaines and three days 
later the commandant, Colonel Charles D. Anderson, unconditionally surrendered the 
fort to Union forces.

The fort was found to be in excellent order after the shelling engagements, and 
after the war, the masonry and earthen fortifications were repaired.

In 1890, a new national plan of defense was developed and Mobile Bay was among 
27 ports for which fortifications were considered urgent. In 1895 work was begun on 
concrete batteries, which were completed and turned over to the U.S. Artillery in 
1901. These batteries, which housed disappearing type Sea-Coast cannon, were named 
Battery Stanton and Battery Terrett.

In the 1940 f s the Alabama State Armory Commission leased the fort as a camp 
site for the State Guard and after World War II Fort Gaines was returned to the 
State of Alabama. In 1955 it was opened to the public as a tourist attraction.
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